FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 7/27/2023 2:02 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/27/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102224-7

No. 83424-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARCUS DUELL, an individual,

Respondent,

v.

PENINSULA AVIATION SERVICES, INC., doing business as PenAir, a Delaware corporation,

Petitioner,

and

ALASKA AIRLINES, INC., a Delaware corporation; and DOES 1-20,

Defendants.

ERIN OLTMAN, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of David Oltman, and on behalf of REECE OLTMAN and EVAN OLTMAN, minors,

Respondents,

PENINSULA AVIATION SERVICES, INC., doing business as PenAir, a Delaware corporation,

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Peninsula Aviation Services, Inc. d/b/a PenAir ("PenAir") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decisions terminating review set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS TERMINATING REVIEW

Division I of the Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on June 12, 2023. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix. That court also denied PenAir's timely motion for reconsideration on July 10, 2023. A copy of that order is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where PenAir was a Delaware corporation and a regional air carrier headquartered in Alaska, that was not licensed to do business in Washington, paid no Washington taxes, owned no real or personal property in Washington, employed no one in Washington, and did not advertise in Washington, and an air crash occurred in Alaska, did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that the exercise of specific jurisdiction by Washington courts over litigation arising out of that crash did not offend due process principles under the long-arm statute, RCW 4.28.185, where the defendant's sole contact with Washington was an agreement to have Alaska Airlines

schedule and market its flights in Alaska and that agreement gave no control to Alaska over PenAir flight operations or maintenance?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's published opinion sets forth a largely accurate, but cursory, recitation of the facts and procedure in the case. Op. at 2-3. PenAir supplements those facts and emphasizes certain points not addressed in detail by the Division I opinion.

First, the case came to Division I on discretionary review. The court's Commissioner granted review on the basis of RAP 2.3(b)(1), concluding that the trial court's decision on specific jurisdiction over PenAir was "obvious error" under that rule, noting as well that the issue was "a threshold issue over which two separate trial judges have reached opposition conclusions." Ruling on Review at 10.¹

¹ Judge Suzanne Parisien dismissed Duell's action against PenAir, citing Division I's decision in *Montgomery v. Air Serv. Corp., Inc.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 532, 446 P.3d 659 (2019). Judge Douglass North denied PenAir's motion to dismiss when the Duell and Oltman actions were consolidated. CP 141. Commissioner Kanazawa was third judicial officer in this case.

Second, while the Division I opinion confirmed that the capacity purchase agreement ("CPA") governed the relationship between PenAir, a regional air carrier in Alaska, and Alaska Airlines, headquartered in Seattle, and that it contained a choice of law provision to apply Washington law. Op. at 2-3, 12-13. However, the CPA was confined to Alaska Airlines' marketing and scheduling PenAir-operated flights in Alaska. It disclaimed an agency or partnership relationship between PenAir and Alaska Airlines, and did not give the latter control over PenAir aircraft maintenance or flight operations. Rather, pertinent to the crash at issue here, PenAir had exclusive control over personnel (¶ 1.7), aircraft maintenance, safety, and flight operations.²

² 1.7.1 PenAir shall hire, engage, employ and maintain a sufficient number of trained personnel and subcontractors, including, but not limited to pilots, flight attendants, customer service agents and maintenance personnel necessary to provide the Flight Services required by this CPA. Such pilots, flight attendants, customer service agents and maintenance personnel shall wear PenAir uniforms, and PenAir will be responsible for all recurrent training and expenses relating to such pilots, flight

Alaska's functions under the CPA were the pricing, marketing, and selling of tickets. ¶ 1.1 provided that Alaska set the schedule for PenAir flights "subject to the *reasonable approval of PenAir* to ensure safety and reliability into [Dutch Harbor] during challenging weather and minimal daylight conditions."³ (emphasis added). *See* Appendix (CPA excerpts).

Third, PenAir sold the capacity of the flight at issue to Alaska Airlines. It had no interest in whether passengers on the flight had flown to Anchorage from Seattle or any other airport. The mere fact that Alaska Airlines happens to have sold a ticket

CP 121.

attendants, customer service agents and mechanics, including uniform allowances and cleaning in accordance with its internal policies.

³ When Division I opined at 2-3 that Alaska "retained the right to control what safety standards PenAir was required to adhere to in the operation of the Dutch Harbor route" or at 12 that the CPA gave Alaska the right "to ensure safety and reliability of flights into Dutch Harbor during challenging weather or minimal daylight conditions," both statements are inaccurate.

to a Washington resident was fortuitous.

Finally, as to PenAir's connection to Washington, apart from Alaska Airlines' setting the schedule for its flights out of Seattle, there were virtually no connections to this state:

- PenAir was a Delaware corporation headquartered in Alaska;
- PenAir operated no flights to and from, or over, Washington, operating only in Alaska;
- PenAir did not advertise in Washington or solicit business in this state;
- PenAir did not have a UBI number with the Department of Revenue and paid no Washington taxes;
- PenAir had no bank accounts or other personal property in Washington;
- PenAir owned no buildings, leases, or other real property in Washington;
- PenAir did not employ any Washington residents;
- The injury at issue occurred in Dutch Harbor, Alaska.
- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is merited in this case under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2),

and (4) because Division I's decision represents the most extreme application of specific jurisdiction in Washington case law that contradicts decisions on due process limitations to long arm jurisdiction under RCW 4.28.185 by this Court, Division I itself, and other divisions of our Court of Appeals. This Court should articulate the appropriate rules for specific jurisdiction, particularly given the ferment in the United States Supreme Court over the scope of such jurisdiction, consistent with due process principles.

(1) <u>Background to Jurisdictional Analysis</u>

This case arises under Washington's long arm statute, RCW 4.28.185(1). *See* Appendix. As Division I itself has correctly concluded, Washington courts have personal jurisdiction over nonresident defendants *only* for those causes of action arising from the acts listed in RCW 4.28.185(3). *Montgomery*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 539.

None of the statutory provisions in RCW 4.28.185(1) apply here, except potentially (a) relating to the transaction of

business in Washington by PenAir, a foreign corporation, incorporated in Delaware and headquartered and transacting business only in Alaska.

As for that statutory provision, Washington courts' jurisdiction is limited only by principles of due process as established by the federal courts, *Noll v. American Biltrite, Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 402, 411, 395 P.3d 1021 (2017), specifically, whether such foreign corporations are transacting business in Washington; this Court analyzes whether Washington has general or specific jurisdiction over the corporation. *Id.* at 412.

General jurisdiction arises when a foreign corporation's contacts with the forum state are sufficiently "continuous and systematic' as to render [the defendant] essentially at home in the forum state." *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown,* 564 U.S. 915, 919, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 180 L. Ed. 2d 796 (2011). That analysis looks to a defendant's contacts with the forum state, "regardless of their relationship to the claims at issue," *Noll,* 188 Wn.2d at 412, and the contacts with the forum state

must be extensive and systematic. *Goodyear*, 564 U.S. at 919. The trial court did not find it had general personal jurisdiction over PenAir, CP 141, and respondents did not argue below that general jurisdiction exists as to PenAir.⁴

With regard to specific jurisdiction, a foreign corporation may be subject to a state's authority if it has the requisite nexus with the forum state. "For a state court to exercise specific jurisdiction, there must be a connection between the forum state and the controversy." *Montgomery*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 540; *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Ct. of California, San Francisco County*, 582 U.S. 255, 264, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L.

⁴ Nor could they in light of United States Supreme Court precedents severely *retrenching* such jurisdiction under the 14th Amendment's Due Process Clause. *See Goodyear, supra*; *Daimler AG v. Bauman*, 571 U.S. 117, 134 S. Ct. 746, 187 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2014). *See also, Bradley v. Globus Medical, Inc.*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 1041, 2022 WL 2373441 (2022) at *2 (registration under Washington's corporate law not enough to subject foreign corporation to Washington's authority under general jurisdiction principles, noting that the U.S. Supreme Court has "dramatically reined in general jurisdiction over corporations.").

Ed. 2d 395 (2017). In Bristol-Myers Squibb, the Court held that due process did not permit the exercise of specific jurisdiction by a California court over the defendant pharmaceutical company for claims relating to its drug Plavix. The defendant was incorporated in Delaware and headquartered in New York with operations New York and New Jersey. While it sold Plavix in California, conclusive for the Court as to persons who were not injured in California was the fact that Bristol-Myers Squibb did not develop Plavix in California, create a California marketing for the drug, or manufacture, label, package, or work on regulatory approval for the drug in that state. Id. at 259. Moreover, critical to this case, the Court rejected the theory that a contract between the corporation and a California corporation to market Plavix nationally resulted in satisfied specific jurisdiction principles. Id. at 268 ("The bare fact that BMS contracted with a California distributor is not enough to establish personal jurisdiction in the state.").

In Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Jud. Dist., ___ U.S.

____, 141 S. Ct. 1017, 1024, 209 L. Ed. 2d 225 (2021), the Court concluded that specific jurisdiction was present in Montana state courts for product liability actions arising out of defects in Ford vehicles where the manufacturer continuously and deliberately exploited the Montana market by advertising and selling its vehicles in Montana through multiple dealerships, and servicing defective vehicles there. *Id.* at 1028. Moreover, such activities were connected to the basis for the lawsuits in Montana, unlike the situation in *Bristol-Myers Squibb* where the Court observed: "What is needed – and what is missing here – is a connection between the forum and the specific claims at issue." 582 U.S. at 265.

Thus, specific jurisdiction, a plaintiff's claims "must arise out of or relate to the defendant's contacts" with the forum. "In other words, there must be 'an affiliation between the forum and the underlying controversy, principally [an] activity or occurrence that takes place in the forum State and is therefore subject to the State's regulation." *Bristol-Myers Squibb*, 582 U.S. at 264 (quoting *Goodyear*, 564 U.S. at 919). The relationship must arise from contacts the *defendant* creates with the forum state. *Walden v. Fiore*, 571 U.S. 277, 284, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 188 L. Ed. 2d 12 (2014).

As will be noted in detail, *infra*, Division I's extreme interpretation of specific jurisdiction in its published opinion is inconsistent with United States Supreme Court precedent, this Court's decisions, and decisions of other divisions of the Court of Appeals.

(2) <u>Division I's Published Opinion Contravenes United</u> <u>States Supreme Court and This Court's Precedents</u> <u>on Specific Jurisdiction</u>

The jurisprudence of the United States Supreme Court on specific jurisdiction has undergone significant development in recent years, limiting its reach. For example, the Court's plurality opinion in *J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro*, 564 U.S. 873, 882, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 180 L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011), was eroded by *Ford*. The *Ford* court, however, reiterated that a defendant's contacts with the forum "must be the defendant's own choice and not 'random, isolated, or fortuitous."" Id. at 1025.

Moreover, what remains unambiguous under United States Supreme Court's precedent is that a contract between a defendant and a third party in the forum state has never been sufficient to sustain an exercise of specific personal jurisdiction. As the Supreme Court made clear in *Burger King Corp.* v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985), "[i]f the question is whether an individual's contract with an out-of-state party alone can automatically establish sufficient minimum contacts in the other party's home forum, we believe the answer clearly is that it cannot." 471 U.S. at 462, 478 (1985).⁵ See also, Bristol-Myers Squibb, 582 U.S. at 269. The Montgomery court further stated: "The Estate asserts that ABM purposefully availed itself of the privilege of doing business in Washington by entering into contracts with airlines to provide

⁵ Accord, Boschetto v. Hansing, 539 F.3d 1011, 1017 (9th Cir. 2008), cert. denied, 555 U.S. 1171 (2009) ("a contract alone does not automatically establish minimum contacts in the plaintiff's home forum.").

wheelchair services to Washington residents in Texas. This is not sufficient to establish case-linked personal jurisdiction. Providing services in Texas does not manifest an intention to submit to the jurisdiction of Washington courts." 9 Wn. App. 2d at 545. But the mere existence of a contract between ABM and Alaska Airlines for ABM to perform wheelchair services in Texas for Alaska customers traveling in Texas was not sufficient to allow a Washington court to assert jurisdiction over ABM for negligent acts and resulting injuries occurring in Texas. The same is true here as to PenAir.

This Court's last major specific jurisdiction cases, *Noll*, supra, and State v. LG Electronics, 186 Wn.2d 169, 375 P.3d 1035 (2016), did not have the benefit of the United States Supreme Court's analysis in *Bristol-Myers Squibb*, supra, or Ford. In Noll, this Court concluded that specific jurisdiction was not present for a Wisconsin corporation that provided asbestos to a manufacturer of asbestos cement pipes in California who then sold those pipes in Washington. The corporation had no knowledge that the asbestos-containing pipes would be sold in Washington. The Court rejected the application of *J. McIntyre*. 188 Wn.2d at 416.

In *LG Electronics*, this Court concluded on review of CR 12 motion to dismiss that Washington appropriately exercised antitrust claims against out-of-state manufacturers of cathode ray tubes because the manufacturers conspired to raise prices for those tubes and such tubes were sold in large quantities in our state. The manufacturers' sales in Washington were not an isolated occurrence but rather they placed the tubes into the stream of commerce knowing they would be incorporated into televisions sold in Washington. *Id.* at 178.

And this Court's analysis in *Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines*, 113 Wn.2d 763, 783 P.2d 78 (1989), upon which Division I relied, op. at 9-10, has been overshadowed by more recent federal precedent referenced *supra*. Moreover, in *Shute*, the specific activities of the defendant cruise line directed toward the plaintiffs attracted those plaintiffs to the cruise where they were injured. Carnival advertised its cruises in Washington newspapers, provided brochures to Washington travel agents, and periodically conducted seminars for travel agents in Washington to promote its cruises. PenAir did nothing to induce Oltman in Washington to cause him to book the flight at issue. Oltman did not purchase a ticket from PenAir. Rather, Alaska Airlines had bought all the seats and sold all the tickets for the flight.

Nor did this Court in *LG Electronics* or *Noll* have the benefit of recent Ninth Circuit jurisprudence applying those decisions. In *Yamashita v. LG Chem Ltd.*, 62 F.4th 496 (9th Cir. 2023), the court applied *Ford* and *J. McIntyre*, ruling that specific jurisdiction did not exist in Hawaii in a case involving an exploding lithiun-ion battery in an electronic cigarette brought against a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Georgia that was a wholly-owned *marketing* subsidiary of a South Korean distributor of batteries to manufacturers, but not to consumers. The court concluded that

under a stream of commerce analysis, the defendants had contacts with Hawaii, but that those contacts lacked the requisite nexus to the cause of action. Unlike the facts of *Ford*, where the manufacturer aggressively marketed cars to consumers, the defendants did not do so and the plaintiff's injury from the exploding battery had no connection to the defendants' alleged contacts with Hawaii ports or the solar battery market in that state. The court specifically noted the "consideration confusion" in the district courts as to *Ford*'s application. *Id.* at 506 n.1.

Division I's opinion also makes reference to the fact that the CPA contained a choice of law provision. Op. at 3. Division I cites no decision of this Court discussing the significance of such a provision for this Court's due process analysis. However, Division I concluded that such a provision was extremely important to the issue of whether PenAir availed itself of Washington law's benefits and protections. Op. at 11-13. But Division I's analysis is flawed factually and legally. Factually, Division I's analysis of the provision distorts its effect. The parties agreed that Washington law governs the CPA's performance, *not* PenAir's operations generally, as the court implies. Op. at 12. Choice of law had *nothing* to do with PenAir's flight operations, the gravamen of the negligence/product liability action here, as the CPA itself stated.

Moreover, while that choice of law provision is a factor for a court's due process analysis, it is *far* from conclusive. The United States Supreme Court in *Burger King* said it was *a* factor that shouldn't be ignored, but, standing alone, it does not confer specific jurisdiction upon forum courts. 471 U.S. at 481-82.

But what also cannot be ignored, as Division I plainly did in its analysis, is the absence of a forum selection clause in the CPA. Such provisions are common. *See generally*, David DeWolf, Keller Allen, Darlene Caruso, 25 *Wash. Prac.*, *Contract Law & Practice* § 9.21 (3d ed.). If the parties had intended by the CPA to subject PenAir to Washington courts' jurisdiction, they would have said so. They didn't. The absence of such a provision carries significant weight.

In sum, Division I's opinion contravenes cases like Bristol-Meyers Squibb and Ford that require a defendant to engage in significant contacts with the forum state to be subject to specific jurisdiction. A contract with a third party located in Washington, absent such significant contacts, is not eligible. Indeed, that is plain here where the contract between PenAir and Alaska Airlines was for the scheduling and marketing of flights, and had nothing to do with flight operations, the gravamen of the respondents' complaint, as Bristol-Mevers Squibb requires. Given that this Court applies federal due process precedents on specific jurisdiction, and such precedents evidence a more restrictive specific jurisdiction over foreign sense on corporations, review of Division I's published opinion that fails to faithfully apply those federal standards is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

> (3) <u>Division I's Published Opinion Contravenes Court</u> of Appeals Precedents on Specific Jurisdiction

> Division I's opinion is not only inconsistent with opinions

of other divisions of the Court of Appeals, it is inconsistent with its own decisions in cases like *Montgomery*, meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(2); *State v. Cornwell*, 190 Wn.2d 296, 301, 412 P.3d 1265 (2018) (ongoing split in Court of Appeals on the lawfulness of a search required Supreme Court review).

Division I relegates the facts in *Montgomery*, a published decision whose analysis is at odds with Division I's analysis here, to a footnote, op. at 7 n.4, but the facts in that case are revealing. There, a Washington resident attempted to sue the Georgia incorporated and headquartered company, ABM Aviation Inc. ("ABM"), in Washington state court based solely on certain "contracts" between ABM and "airlines," including Washington-based Alaska Airlines, to "perform janitorial, cabin cleaning, and baggage services at SeaTac [International Airport]" in Washington. ABM contracted to provide wheelchair services in Texas. Montgomery, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 542. In holding that ABM's contract with Alaska Airlines could not support the exercise of specific personal jurisdiction by a

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