FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/27/2023 2:27 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102224-7

Court of Appeals No. 83424-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARCUS DUELL, an individual,

Respondent,

۷.

PENINSULA AVIATION SERVICES, INC., doing business as PenAir, a Delaware corporation,

Petitioner,

and

ALASKA AIRLINES, INC., a Delaware corporation; and DOES 1-20,

Defendants.

ERIN OLTMAN, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of David Oltman, and on behalf of REECE OLTMAN and EVAN OLTMAN, minors,

Respondents,

۷.

PENINSULA AVIATION SERVICES, INC., doing business as PenAir, a Delaware corporation,

Petitioner,

and

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

Plaintiff/Respondent Erin Oltman is David's widow. He is also survived by his children, Plaintiffs/Respondents Reece Oltman and Evan Oltman, both of whom are minors. CP 37-38 (¶¶ 89-94). It is undisputed that all the Respondents are Washington residents.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. PenAir tacitly concedes that no significant constitutional question exists here.

PenAir does not cite or rely on RAP 13.4(b)(3), which permits review of decisions involving significant legal questions under the state or federal constitution. This tacit concession is appropriate: "To the extent that a corporation exercises the privilege of conducting activities within a state, it enjoys the benefits and protection of the laws of that state." Int'l Shoe Co. v. Wa., 326 U.S. 310, 319, 66 S. Ct. 154, 90 L. Ed. 95 (1945). Those benefits and protections include "the enforcement of contracts . . . [and] the resulting formation of effective markets." *Ford*, 141 S. Ct. at 1029. They also come with reciprocal obligations, such as enforcing an obligation that what the company sells in the state is safe for its citizens to use. Id.

A state's enforcement of that obligation by exercising personal jurisdiction when its citizens seek redress through

its courts can "hardly be said to be undue." Id. (quoting Int'I

Shoe, 326 U.S. at 319). On the contrary:

No one seriously questions that the company, seeking to do business, entered . . . through the front door. And I cannot see why, when faced with the process server, it should be allowed to escape out the back.

Ford, 141 S. Ct. at 1039 (Gorsuch, J., concurring).

B. There is no conflict with federal precedent.

PenAir claims a conflict with various federal decisions, which is not a criterion for review in this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2). Nonetheless, no conflicts exist.

Rather, the Court of Appeals correctly explained that "because we look to federal law to determine personal jurisdiction, we review this case in light of *Ford*." *Duell*, 530 P.3d at 1020. While acknowledging that *Ford* is the most recent SCOTUS precedent establishing the boundaries of specific personal jurisdiction, PenAir does not, and cannot, explain how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Ford*. That is because it does not. 1. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Ford,* the United States Supreme Court's controlling precedent on personal jurisdiction.

The *Ford* court held that under the Due Process Clause of the federal Constitution, for a court to exercise specific personal jurisdiction over an out-of-state business, that defendant must purposefully avail itself of the privilege of conducting activities in the forum state, and the plaintiff's claims must arise out of or relate to those activities. *Ford*, 141 S. Ct. at 1024-25. In particular, *Ford* clarified that the phrase "arise out of or relate to" is disjunctive, rejecting Ford's argument that there must be a causal relationship between the forum-state activities and the plaintiff's claims. *Ford*, 141 S. Ct. at 1026 (while "arise out of" requires a causal connection, "relate to" does not.)

The Court of Appeals applied *Ford*, holding that (1) in contracting with Alaska Airlines, a Washington company, to exclusively price, market, and sell PenAir's flights from

Anchorage to Dutch Harbor under their CPA, PenAir purposefully availed itself of the privilege of doing business in Washington; (2) PenAir's CPA chooses Washington law to govern all matters of construction, validity, and *performance*, further evidencing PenAir's purposeful availment; and (3) David could not have been on the PenAir flight that killed him but for the CPA making Alaska Airlines PenAir's exclusive ticketing agent, so the Oltmans' claims arise from and relate to PenAir's purposeful Washington contacts. *Duell*, 530 P.3d at 10-21-23. PenAir identifies no conflict between *Duell* and *Ford*.

2. *Ford* definitively clarified the law governing personal jurisdiction.

PenAir repeatedly references earlier SCOTUS decisions, imagining conflicts where none exist. As support for its claims that its CPA with Alaska Airlines was somehow the act of a third party, so it did not purposefully avail itself of the privilege of doing any business in

Washington, PenAir cites the 2017 decision in *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of California, San Francisco County,* 582 U.S. 255, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L.
Ed. 2d 375 (2017), and the 2014 decision in *Walden v. Fiore,* 571 U.S. 277, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 188 L. Ed. 2d 17 (2014). PFR at 8-11. Neither decision supports PenAir.

First, *Ford* is the most recent – and thus controlling – SCOTUS precedent on these issues. Courts and commentators have recognized that *Ford* significantly clarified the personal-jurisdiction analysis. *See, e.g., Adams v. Aircraft Spruce & Specialty Co.,* 284 A.3d 600, 616 (Conn. 2022) (*Ford* "definitively answered" the "causal connection" question that was previously unclear); *Cox v. HP Inc.*, 492 P.3d 1245, 1254 (Ore. 2021) (*Ford* "put an end to any misimpression that, in *Bristol-Myers*, the Court's rejection of specific personal jurisdiction had turned on the lack of a direct causal link between Bristol-Myers' sales of Plavix in California and the out-of-state purchases

of Plavix by the out-of-state plaintiffs"); *Sandhu Farm Inc. v. A&P Fruit Growers, Ltd.*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 577, 580, 524 P.3d 209 (2023) (*Ford* "addressed and clarified the requirements for personal jurisdiction over a nonresident entity"); P. Borchers et al., *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District: Lots of Questions, Some Answers,* 71 EMORY L.J. ONLINE 1, 9, 19–28 (2021); R. Freer, *From Contacts to Relatedness: Invigorating the Promise of 'Fair Play and Substantial Justice' in Personal Jurisdiction Doctrine,*" 73 ALA. L. REV. 583, 600–603 (2022). *Ford*'s decisive synthesis of controlling Supreme Court precedent renders PenAir's reliance on prior decisions unpersuasive.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict in any way with older federal decisions, including *Bristol-Myers* and *Walden*.

In any event, *Duell* does not conflict with earlier SCOTUS decisions. For instance, *Bristol-Myers* involved a large group of individual plaintiffs – 86 California

residents and 592 nonresidents - who filed suit in California state court against pharmaceutical company Bristol-Myers Squibb, alleging that Plavix, a prescription drug that BMS manufactures and markets nationally, had damaged their health. *Bristol-Myers*, 582 U.S. at 259. The Court rejected the nonresidents' argument that a California court could exercise personal jurisdiction over the company, holding that the nonresidents' claims did not arise out of or relate to any of the defendant's activities in California. Id. at 265. Specifically, the nonresident plaintiffs' claims had no connection to the forum state or to the defendant's activities in the forum state. Id. at 265 ("What is needed – and what is missing here – is a connection between the forum and the specific claims at issue").

In contrast, the connection between Washington and the specific claims at issue here is tight. Respondents are all Washington residents; David was a Washington resident; David bought his ticket from a Washington

company in Washington; and as the undisputed evidence established, David could not have purchased that ticket from a Washington company had PenAir not contracted with that Washington company to sell every single ticket on the flight that killed him.

A state "has a 'manifest interest' in providing its residents with a convenient forum for redressing injuries inflicted by out-of-state actors." *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 473, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985). Thus, although *Bristol-Myers* held that California lacked personal jurisdiction over the claims of *nonresident* plaintiffs who had no connection to the state, it never questioned that the state had jurisdiction over those of the *resident* plaintiffs who lived in California. *Bristol-Myers*, 582 U.S. at 265.

The United States Supreme Court has consistently held that specific jurisdiction may rest on "an affiliation between the forum and the underlying controversy,

principally, activity or an occurrence that takes place in the forum State and is therefore subject to the State's regulation." *Id.* at 262 (citation omitted). Even without the clarification provided in *Ford*, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Bristol-Myers*, where (as here) the connections among the plaintiffs, their claims, and PenAir's activities in Washington, are indisputable.

PenAir is also wrong to assert that the Court of Appeals' decision somehow conflicts with *Walden*, *supra*. PenAir cites *Walden* for the proposition that there must be a relationship between the plaintiff's claims and contacts the defendant makes with the forum state. *Walden*, 571 U.S. at 284. Its argument is based on its erroneous assertion that David's ticket purchase did not arise from PenAir's contacts with Washington. PFR at 11.

In *Walden*, specific jurisdiction was lacking because the defendant "never traveled to, conducted activities within . . . or sent anything or anyone to" the forum state—

in other words, that defendant did not purposefully avail himself of the forum state. 571 U.S. at 289. In such cases, there is no need to ask whether nonexistent contacts relate to the suit in the first place.

But here, there is purposeful contact – indeed, a Washington contract – made by PenAir itself. This was not a "random," "isolated," or "fortuitous" contact, nor was it the work of some "third party." *Ford*, 141 S. Ct. at 1025. Rather, as the Court of Appeals explained, "through the CPA [PenAir] reached beyond its home of Alaska to exploit a market in Washington by relying on Washington-based Alaska Airlines to exclusively market and sell PenAir's flights to Dutch Harbor." *Duell*, 530 P.3d at 1021. That is sufficient under *Walden*, *Ford*, and indeed, every relevant SCOTUS decision.

4. There is no conflict with the Ninth Circuit's decision in *Yamashita*.

PenAir's citation to a Ninth Circuit decision also does not give rise to a conflict or indicate that the Court of Appeals' decision does not follow controlling precedent. PFR at 15-16 (citing Yamashita v. LG Chem, Ltd., 62 F.4th 496 (9th Cir. 2023)). **Yamashita** is a products-liability case. Yamashita, 62 F.4th at 501. In rejecting personal jurisdiction, the Ninth Circuit applied *Ford*, asking whether the plaintiff's claims arose from or related to the defendant's activity in the forum state. Id. While the defendant did sell large solar batteries in the forum state, it did not sell the type of battery alleged to have injured the plaintiff in that state. Id. at 506-07. The court concluded that a claim based on an exploding e-cigarette battery was unrelated to LG Chem's sale of other, much larger batteries in that state. Id.

Notably, two months after **Yamashita**, the Texas Supreme Court reached a different conclusion when LG Chem's contact with the forum state was the sale of the very model battery the plaintiff alleged caused his injuries. See LG Chem America, Inc. v. Morgan, 670 S.W.3d 341 (Tex. 2023). The Morgan court saw evidence that LG Chem sold thousands of batteries in Texas of the same model that injured the Texas plaintiff: the court held that under Ford, the plaintiff's claim related to the defendant's activities in Texas. Morgan, 670 S.W.3d at 349.

These two cases together teach the same lesson regarding the limits of personal jurisdiction set down by the United States Supreme Court in *Ford*: what matters is the connection between the defendant's forum-state activities and the plaintiff's claims. Where, as here, the claims arise from *and* relate to the defendant's in-state activities, personal jurisdiction exists. The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with *Yamashita*.

The United States Supreme Court has held that even a single contract – like the CPA between PenAir and Alaska Airlines – can establish purposeful availment.

PenAir claims that under United States Supreme Court precedent, "a contract between a defendant and a third party in the forum state has never been sufficient to sustain an exercise of specific personal jurisdiction," and a "contract with a third party located in Washington, absent such significant contacts, is not eligible" to establish purposeful availment. PFR at 12, 18. PenAir is wrong.

PenAir quotes *Burger King*, which rejected the proposition that an individual's single contract with an out-of-state party *automatically establishes* minimum contacts in the other party's home forum. *Burger King*, 471 U.S. at 478. That same Court, however, made it clear that "so long as it creates a 'substantial connection' with the forum, *even a single act can support jurisdiction.*" *Id.* at 475 n.18 (emphasis added). *Yamashita* also noted that

"for purposeful availment purposes, a single sufficiently deliberate contact can suffice." **Yamashita**, 62 F.4th at 504.

Burger King explains its "highly realistic approach that recognizes that a contract is ordinarily but an intermediate step serving to tie up prior business negotiations with future consequences which themselves are the real object of the business transaction." 471 U.S. at 479 (cleaned up). Here, the CPA – under which all seats on all PenAir flights during its term would be priced, marketed, and sold, *exclusively* by Alaska Airlines – clearly established PenAir's purposeful availment of the privilege of doing business in Washington. And the CPA clause making Washington law govern the relationship between PenAir and Alaska Airlines also evidenced that PenAir "purposefully availed itself of the privilege of conducting activities within Washington." Duell, 530 P.3d at 1022.

Under CPA § 14.5 – "Choice of Law" (CP 122):

This CPA shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington (without regard to principles of conflicts of law) including all matters of construction, validity and *performance*.

Duell, 530 P.3d at 1018 (emphasis added). *Burger King* itself recognizes that a choice-of-law provision in a contract is evidence that a defendant has "purposefully invoked the benefits and protections of a State's laws for jurisdictional purposes." *Burger King*, 471 U.S. at 482 (cleaned up).

In contrast, there is no authority (and PenAir cites none) for PenAir's contention that the absence of a forum-selection clause in the CPA is in any way significant. Notably, the agreement at issue in *Burger King* did not include a forum-selection clause and instead specifically stated that the choice of Florida law to govern the agreement did not mean the parties agreed that all suits about the agreement had to be filed in Florida. *Id.* at 481. There is no conflict with *Burger King*.

6. The scope of the CPA is irrelevant to the jurisdictional question.

In framing its issue and elsewhere in its Petition, PenAir asserts that it was inaccurate for the Court of Appeals to reference Alaska Airlines retaining some control over safety or other standards for flights in and out of Dutch Harbor. PFR 2-4 & n.3. The meaning of that provision is entirely immaterial to whether these claims arise from or relate to PenAir's purposeful contact. Of course, the referenced section of the CPA does talk about safety and reliability in connection with Alaska Airlines' right to control when flights were to be scheduled for that airport. How much control Alaska Airlines was given may be an issue at trial, but it plays no part in the jurisdictional analysis.

C. No conflict exists with other appellate decisions.

PenAir also fails to identify any conflict with other published appellate decisions. *Duell* itself explains why the same court's prior decision in *Montgomery* is not controlling and does not mandate a different result here.

Duell, 530 P.3d at 1019-20 (distinguishing Montgomery v.

Air Serv. Corp., Inc., 9 Wn. App. 2d 532, 446 P.3d 659 (2019)). The other decisions PenAir identifies are unpublished and do not conflict with *Duell*.

1. There is no conflict with Division One's own *Montgomery* decision, which predates *Ford* and is factually distinguishable.

PenAir is simply wrong in claiming that *Duell* conflicts with the same Court of Appeals' earlier decision in *Montgomery*. In making this claim, PenAir again argues as if *Ford* was not decided after *Montgomery*.

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